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          1  COMMITTEE ON FINANCE

          2                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Good morning. I

          3  would not like to have any outbursts during the

          4  course of this hearing. However, at our hearing in

          5  December, the Administration announced that they

          6  intended to pay for the roof and floor of the

          7  stadium with PILOTs paid to the City from other

          8  projects. However, this would mean that the

          9  Executive would be taking these property tax

         10  substitutes and directing them to a fund to fund an

         11  unrelated project without first obtaining the

         12  support and authorization of the Council, the City's

         13  local Legislature that is charged with setting

         14  spending priorities.

         15                 The City Council's lawyers believe

         16  that State law and the Charter have set up a system

         17  that does not give the Mayor this unilateral

         18  authority to spend money without legislative

         19  authorization, and this would apply to the PILOT

         20  payments for any project.

         21                 In addition, I asked Budget Director

         22  Page at our last hearing if he had a problem with

         23  providing the Council with a list of all the PILOTs

         24  being made to the City and the uses to which these

         25  funds are put, and he replied that he thought this
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          2  was reasonable.

          3                 Well, these two points are the sum

          4  total of this legislation, so I hope the Budget

          5  Director is here today to support this legislation,

          6  at least in principle, and certainly as far as

          7  notification provisions to the City Council.

          8                 I'd be happy to listen to any

          9  proposals he has for achieving these two fundamental

         10  goals of ensuring transparency and checks and

         11  balances in the spending of public funds.

         12                 I'm now going to, we have a number of

         13  members here I'll introduce. We have Council Member

         14  Madeline Provenzano from the Bronx, Council Member

         15  Helen Sears from Queens, our Minority Leader Jim

         16  Oddo from Staten Island, and Council Member

         17  Margarita Lopez from Manhattan, all members of the

         18  Finance Committee, and on my immediate left is

         19  Speaker Gifford Miller who has a statement.

         20                 Speaker Miller.

         21                 SPEAKER MILLER: Thank you, Mr.

         22  Chairman.

         23                 Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I want to

         24  thank you and welcome everyone here to the City

         25  Council's Finance Committee hearing on the subject
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          2  of this important legislation.

          3                 As we all know, the legislative

          4  appropriation of public funds is one of the bedrock

          5  principles of representative democracy enshrined in

          6  our Federal and State Constitutions, as well as in

          7  the City Charter. And before any money can be

          8  approved, proposals to spend money must first pass

          9  the test of public scrutiny, and public debate.

         10                 Over the last year, however, this

         11  Administration has proposed to flagrantly violate

         12  this fundamental principle when it comes to

         13  financing their controversial plan to construct a

         14  stadium on the far west side of Manhattan.

         15                 Simply put, Mayor Bloomberg has tried

         16  to pull an end run around this Council to get

         17  approval for his stadium. He sought to bypass the

         18  people's elected Legislature by back-door approvals

         19  through obscure and unaccountable State

         20  bureaucracies. He's tried to arrange a massive

         21  expenditure of public funds without any oversight

         22  from the City's publicly elected officials and

         23  representatives. That's why I've introduced

         24  legislation to stop the Mayor's plan to finance the

         25  stadium through payments in lieu of taxes, and to
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          2  make sure that every public dollar that the City

          3  spends goes through our Charter process for

          4  authorizing expenditures.

          5                 This is a stand we must make. Since

          6  the Charter made the City Council the final

          7  authority on authorizing expenditures, no Mayor has

          8  tried to remove an expenditure of this size from

          9  public review. It's wrong. And even if you support

         10  the stadium, this is still a precedent that you and

         11  I cannot allow to stand.

         12                 In closing, I do want to mention that

         13  one of today's news reports indicates that the Jets

         14  are willing to pick up $600 million it's currently

         15  asking the City and State to build a platform over

         16  the rail yards and to construct the roof and the

         17  stadium itself. And if that's true, well, the Mayor

         18  should demand that they do so. Because if the Jets

         19  are willing to pick up the $600 million, then they

         20  ought to pick up the $600 million. Good negotiating

         21  doesn't leave $600 million on the table. And I

         22  challenge the Jets to come forward and say whether

         23  or not they're willing to pick up these costs right

         24  now. If they are, great, let's hear it, so that we

         25  can really compare what people's visions and
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          2  proposals are for the west side in ways that don't

          3  overburden taxpayers when we have other needs for

          4  our schools, for our subways, for more housing. We

          5  have many other needs.

          6                 So, I want to thank the Chairman for

          7  convening this hearing. I look forward to hearing

          8  the testimony and my colleague and I look forward to

          9  this legislation passing in the near future.

         10                 Thank you.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Well, we've been

         12  joined by some more colleagues. We have Council

         13  Member Christine Quinn from Manhattan. Council

         14  Member Oliver Koppell from the Bronx, and Council

         15  Member Dennis Gallagher from the Queens.

         16                 Mr. Page, you're up. And if you could

         17  identify yourself for the record, and do you have a

         18  prepared statement?

         19                 MR. PAGE: I have a brief statement,

         20  and then I'd be happy to try to respond to your

         21  questions.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Okay.

         23                 MR. PAGE: I'm Mark Page, the Director

         24  of Management and Budget of New York City.

         25                 As I've said before, before this
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          2  body, I don't believe we have any objection to the

          3  public knowledge and review of PILOT payments made

          4  on projects undertaken in New York City.

          5                 However, the concept that this money

          6  is the equivalent of tax money in terms of the

          7  treatment of the revenue and the role of the Council

          8  is something that I am advised is not true, at least

          9  in the way contemplated by this local legislation,

         10  and that's I guess not a great surprise to me in

         11  terms of how money paid under these contracts has

         12  been used in the past.

         13                 IDA's powers to encourage development

         14  in the City include an ability to give tax

         15  exemption, and they do that. They can basically

         16  authorize the construction of new buildings of one

         17  kind or another with no payment of taxes at all. In

         18  general they enter into a contract with the

         19  developer of the proposed building that does provide

         20  for some payments under contract.

         21                 Those contract payments have for some

         22  years been used for meeting the costs of additional

         23  economic development projects undertaken through EDC

         24  without passing through the Council and its

         25  appropriation process, and the idea that it's
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          2  possible to transfer the right to receive contract

          3  payments to an entity for financing purposes is not

          4  new either in New York City.

          5                 For a number of years the City

          6  securitized mortgage payments via the transfer of

          7  the right to receive revenues from various mortgages

          8  held by the City as the security for financings.

          9  TSASC, a local development corporation the City

         10  created pursuant to the State law, receives the

         11  City's payments under a settlement relating to the

         12  tobacco business in the US. Again, payments under

         13  contract that have been transferred to this entity

         14  by action of the Mayor to secure debt. In that case,

         15  the amount of the financing outstanding at the

         16  moment is more than a billion dollars, as a matter

         17  of fact.

         18                 This question of whether the practice

         19  of selling a contractual stream of payments, as we

         20  also sell property of other kinds from time to time,

         21  and whether that is something that can be changed by

         22  act of the City Council, I'm told by the Law

         23  Department on that issue also that a sort of

         24  longstanding and familiar concept of government

         25  applies here, which is that by local law the balance
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          2  of powers between the various branches of City

          3  government can't be changed, which, again, I'm told

          4  by the Law Department basically means here that the

          5  action proposed to be taken by this Council in this

          6  local law is not one which can be effectively done

          7  simply by action of the Council.

          8                 I'd be happy to try to respond to

          9  your questions.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Okay, I'm going

         11  to call upon Speaker Gifford Miller to ask a series

         12  of questions, and then I'll take my prerogative of

         13  the Chair to ask next, and then I'll call upon the

         14  members.

         15                 SPEAKER MILLER: Just a couple of

         16  questions.

         17                 Mr. Page, thank you for being here,

         18  and for your testimony.

         19                 Just let me start with, how many

         20  projects over the last three years have been funded

         21  through PILOT funds without the approval of the

         22  Council, specifically authorized by the Council in

         23  either the capital budget or the revenue expense

         24  budget?

         25                 MR. PAGE: I don't know the answer to
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          2  that, but I could get it for you.

          3                 Presumably there are a -- well, I

          4  know that EDC has entered into a number of projects,

          5  as they do on an ongoing basis, many of them using

          6  PILOT resources to carry them out.

          7                 SPEAKER MILLER: Can you name one?

          8  Give us an example.

          9                 MR. PAGE: I'm not intimately familiar

         10  with EDC's operations, so that I can't. But I can

         11  get that for you.

         12                 SPEAKER MILLER: So, when they do

         13  this, do they consult with the Office of Management

         14  and Budget?

         15                 I mean, you're the head of the budget

         16  agency for the City of New York, when they take

         17  money out of the -- because as a normal course of

         18  matter, PILOT money does flow into the general

         19  revenue stream, right?

         20                 MR. PAGE: There has for some time

         21  been an agreement that OMB is a party to that under

         22  which EDC uses a certain amount of PILOT revenue

         23  each year so that OMB is certainly aware of the

         24  amount of money --

         25                 SPEAKER MILLER: Do you know how much
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          2  that is offhand?

          3                 MR. PAGE: It's several million

          4  dollars. I don't know the number offhand on an

          5  annual basis.

          6                 SPEAKER MILLER: Several million

          7  dollars. So, how long would it take you and your

          8  staff to get us the information on how much money

          9  has been used over the past three years, and for

         10  what purposes?

         11                 MR. PAGE: I would think a few days.

         12                 SPEAKER MILLER: Okay, great. That

         13  would be very helpful, if we could get that.

         14                 MR. PAGE: Yes.

         15                 SPEAKER MILLER: It would be very

         16  helpful. Thank you for that.

         17                 And, so, as a general rule, though,

         18  right? This PILOT money goes into the general

         19  revenue stream?

         20                 MR. PAGE: If it's not used for

         21  anything else, yes.

         22                 SPEAKER MILLER: And that's most of it

         23  right now? We're talking about a comparatively small

         24  amount of money, you're saying is being redirected

         25  by EDC, with OMB's knowledge, but most of it goes
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          2  into the general revenue stream.

          3                 MR. PAGE: Yes.

          4                 SPEAKER MILLER: And that's consistent

          5  with the IDA Statute that says that it should be

          6  delivered to the taxing jurisdiction. And we're the

          7  taxing jurisdiction, right? The City of New York,

          8  not the Economic Development Corporation.

          9                 MR. PAGE: You know, when you get into

         10  the intricacies of this statute, I'm told by the Law

         11  Department that our proposal is legal.

         12                 SPEAKER MILLER: So we'll have to ask

         13  the Law Department questions about that.

         14                 MR. PAGE: I am not the expert to

         15  respond on the niceties of what's in the statute in

         16  detail and what isn't.

         17                 SPEAKER MILLER: Okay. Well, I think

         18  that's fair. Is the Law Department testifying?

         19                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: We invited them.

         20                 SPEAKER MILLER: We invited them but

         21  they're not coming. So the people that we could ask

         22  about the niceties of the legal questions are not

         23  going to be here; is that correct? Can anyone answer

         24  that question on behalf of the Administration?

         25                 MR. PAGE: It's my understanding that
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          2  that's correct.

          3                 SPEAKER MILLER: Okay. Thanks, Mark.

          4                 Well, I'll say that I think we're

          5  disappointed by that, since that's sort of the heart

          6  of the matter, and for the Administration not to be

          7  in a position where they feel that they can publicly

          8  defend the legal position that the Administration

          9  has taken is sort of part of I think the process and

         10  the problem that we have here, that this is to us,

         11  in our mind, a very public matter and we're talking

         12  about essentially hundreds of millions of public

         13  dollars and it ought to be voted on by the public

         14  Legislature after public review. And I will say I'm

         15  disappointed that the Law Department can't come

         16  forward and put forward its position to the public

         17  at a public hearing.

         18                 MR. PAGE: I think the bottom line is

         19  that their position is very clear.

         20                 SPEAKER MILLER: Well, we know what

         21  their position is. I'm not suggesting that we don't

         22  know what their position is. But, obviously, there

         23  are questions that we have about it. And you're

         24  saying, quite reasonably, you're the Director of the

         25  Office of Management and Budget, you can't answer
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          2  those legal questions, so it would be helpful, I

          3  think to the entire public process, for there to be

          4  answers to those questions in a public forum. But

          5  you know, that's your decision. Well, not your

          6  decision, but the Administration's decision to make.

          7                 So, I guess my question, you know, my

          8  questions really do center around what this money is

          9  being used for. What is the process right now?

         10  You're saying that there's a certain amount of money

         11  that EDC gets to use, and they get to do whatever

         12  they want with it? Or do they come to you for

         13  approval for each specific project?

         14                 MR. PAGE: They are largely

         15  independent, although I think in general OMB has

         16  knowledge of the projects and programs that they're

         17  undertaking within their broad economic development

         18  mandate.

         19                 SPEAKER MILLER: And is EDC going to

         20  be testifying later on this subject?

         21                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: No.

         22                 SPEAKER MILLER: No. So, they can't

         23  come and tell us what this money is being spent for,

         24  but you'll get us the information in the next couple

         25  of days?
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          2                 MR. PAGE: Yes.

          3                 SPEAKER MILLER: My questions really

          4  do center around the legal questions, and around

          5  what the money is currently being used for. And, so,

          6  I'm at an impasse as it were.

          7                 So, I'll return the microphone to my

          8  colleague, Chairman Weprin.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Thank you, Mr.

         10  Speaker.

         11                 We've been joined by a number of

         12  colleagues since the last round of introductions.

         13                 We've been joined by Council Member

         14  Melinda Katz from Queens, Council Member Lew Fidler

         15  from Brooklyn, Council Member Eric Gioia from

         16  Queens, Council Member Jim Gennaro from Queens, and

         17  Council Member Tony Avella from Queens.

         18                 Mr. Page, just as far as the dollar

         19  amounts, I believe you had testified earlier at a

         20  previous hearing that, I may not have the exact

         21  amount but I seem to remember that the PILOT

         22  payments are in the range of about 40 million a

         23  year, and for some reason they're going to be rising

         24  to about 70 million a year; is that about accurate?

         25                 MR. PAGE: Yes.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: And what are you

          3  basing the fact that they're rising from 30 million

          4  to 70 million? What's the basis of that rise?

          5                 MR. PAGE: The expectation of

          6  additional payments under development contracts that

          7  we expect will start flowing in the next few years.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Are these

          9  particular bond issues or projects that are in the

         10  planning stages?

         11                 MR. PAGE: Yes.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: They are.

         13                 Okay, and I think you referred to

         14  more than a billion dollars, and was it in

         15  outstanding financings or bond issues that have

         16  PILOT payments? Was that the amount?

         17                 MR. PAGE: Not PILOT payments, but I'm

         18  talking about the borrowings by TSASC, which are

         19  supported by a stream of payments which would

         20  otherwise have gone to New York City by contract,

         21  but which were sold effectively by action of the

         22  Mayor to TSASC and are used to support the debt of

         23  that enterprise.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: And just for the

         25  edification of everyone here, can you just tell us
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          2  what those initials stand for?

          3                 MR. PAGE: That's it's name, as a

          4  matter of fact.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Is it?

          6                 MR. PAGE: Yes.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Very unusual in

          8  this business.

          9                 Okay, and what does the entity do?

         10                 MR. PAGE: What does the entity do? It

         11  borrows money, or has borrowed money secured by

         12  tobacco settlement payments that would otherwise

         13  have gone to New York City, and the proceeds of that

         14  borrowing is actually used by New York City or has

         15  been used by New York City as a source of funding

         16  for its capital program.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: The T has to

         18  stand for tobacco in that.

         19                 MR. PAGE: I mean, if you want the

         20  prior history of this enterprise, it had a corporate

         21  predecessor, which is the Tobacco Settlement Asset

         22  Securitization Corporation.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: I don't remember

         24  that one.

         25                 MR. PAGE: That corporation, for one
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          2  reason or another, never borrowed money and never

          3  received the right to accept the settlement revenue.

          4  A new corporation named TSASC was created which

          5  actually did this transaction.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Okay. What

          7  percentage would you say of these PILOT payments go

          8  into the general fund? Can you kind of isolate the

          9  percentage?

         10                 MR. PAGE: Of the PILOT payments we're

         11  talking about, which is this sort of IDA EDC group

         12  of payments, I would think it's 85, 90 percent right

         13  now.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Okay. And what

         15  other agencies besides IDA and EDA --

         16                 MR. PAGE: EDC?

         17                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: -- Are involved

         18  with PILOT payments?

         19                 MR. PAGE: We actually receive PILOT

         20  payments from the New York City Housing Authority,

         21  from the Battery Park City Authority, the Port

         22  Authority, the big ones.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: The Port

         24  Authority, okay.

         25                 And you said that the Corporation
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          2  Counsel or your attorneys have determined that since

          3  our proposed legislation changes the balance of

          4  powers of the Legislature, I'm paraphrasing what

          5  you're saying but trying to be as accurate as I can,

          6  that this cannot be done by local law but would

          7  require a Charter change; is that correct?

          8                 MR. PAGE: Yes, it would require a

          9  referendum rather than a local law.

         10                 There are things in the Charter you

         11  can change with a local law, but this one, because

         12  it affects the balance of power between sections of

         13  government, you can't do with a local law.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: You also wouldn't

         15  be able to change it by memorandum of understanding,

         16  would you?

         17                 MR. PAGE: Change the Charter by

         18  memorandum of understanding?

         19                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: All right, let me

         20  ask you another question. You must have some

         21  opinion, legal opinion, from counsel stating that.

         22                 Did you consult the Corporation

         23  Counsel when this issue came up a couple of months

         24  ago? Or a month ago?

         25                 MR. PAGE: It's an issue that I've
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          2  discussed with Corporation Counsel from time to

          3  time. This financing proposal has been something

          4  that we've been working on for I think at least a

          5  year with the participation of the Corporation

          6  Counsel and their, I guess analysis and conclusion

          7  on the legality of the proposed structure, I think

          8  it has been pretty clear in their discussions with

          9  me through that effort.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: So, do you have

         11  an opinion in writing?

         12                 MR. PAGE: No.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Okay. Have you

         14  consulted any outside legal firm? Because the City

         15  does consult various legal firms through, whether it

         16  be through bond counsel or other independent

         17  consultation? Have you consulted any law firm

         18  outside of the Corporation Counsel's office on this

         19  issue?

         20                 MR. PAGE: I think that there have

         21  been other law firms working on aspects of this

         22  proposal. I think in general they look to the

         23  expertise of the Law Department on issues of this

         24  kind having to do with the intricacies of City

         25  government.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Can you give us

          3  the names of some of those law firms that have been

          4  consulted?

          5                 MR. PAGE: One second.

          6                 I think the legal assistance that

          7  we've had thus far on the West Side has been more

          8  focused on east of 11th Avenue and the financing for

          9  that, that's been with Nicks and Hargraves

         10  (phonetic). There's been very little outside the

         11  legal effort put in on the financing for the City's

         12  contribution to the cost of the Sports and

         13  Convention Center yet.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: But you feel

         15  pretty comfortable, that if asked, one of these

         16  nationally recognized municipal bond firms or, you

         17  know, other respected legal firms would be able to

         18  advise you that it's perfectly legal for the

         19  Administration to use these PILOT payments without

         20  Council approval; is that correct?

         21                 MR. PAGE: Well, you know, I haven't

         22  asked a question and gotten it answered by one of

         23  those firms. My experience is that, as I said

         24  earlier, they do rely on the expertise of the Law

         25  Department, and I have that answer from the Law
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          2  Department, and it's my understanding that the legal

          3  principles here are not very different from other

          4  structures where we have, the Mayor has transferred

          5  the right to receive revenues under contract to a

          6  finance entity, and we have gotten outside opinions

          7  on the strength of that structure. I mean, it's one

          8  of the things that people rely on when they invest

          9  in bonds secured by a structure of that kind.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Okay. So, would

         11  you feel comfortable requesting a legal opinion on

         12  this issue?

         13                 MR. PAGE: Well, I'm sure that we are

         14  going to need a legal opinion in order to go forward

         15  with this financing as a practical matter.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Okay. All right,

         17  let me --

         18                 SPEAKER MILLER: That's one of the

         19  safest answers you could give today.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Let me go one

         21  step further.

         22                 On behalf of the Finance Committee of

         23  the City Council, I'm requesting a copy of that

         24  legal opinion, and we'd like it kind of in advance

         25  of the proposed financing, if possible. Is that
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          2  something that you're willing to provide to the

          3  Council?

          4                 MR. PAGE: I certainly hear your

          5  request.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Is that something

          7  you're willing to provide?

          8                 MR. PAGE: I don't know what the

          9  timing of this transaction is going to end up being.

         10  If we have such an opinion and are going forward

         11  with this financing, it's certainly something that

         12  will be public.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Okay. So, you

         14  have no objection to providing it to the Council?

         15                 MR. PAGE: Correct.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Okay. Also, since

         17  you do have control of, the Administration does,

         18  over the Corporation Counsel, would you be able to

         19  provide to this Committee and counsel a legal

         20  opinion from the Corporation Counsel?

         21                 MR. PAGE: I can't speak for the

         22  Corporation Counsel on that issue.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Can you request a

         24  legal opinion from the Corporation Counsel?

         25                 MR. PAGE: I can certainly convey your
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          2  request.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: No, I would like

          4  you to request a legal opinion from the Corporation

          5  Counsel.

          6                 MR. PAGE: I can ask for it.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: You'll ask for

          8  it, okay.

          9                 And one just additional line of

         10  questioning, then I'm going to turn it over back to

         11  the Speaker because he has a follow-up.

         12                 SPEAKER MILLER: Just when you're in

         13  the process of asking that question, we'd be happy

         14  to provide to you a letter that the New York City

         15  Economic Development Corporation wrote in 1991

         16  regarding legislation that was before the Governor

         17  regarding the IDA legislation for the Governor,

         18  which the Governor eventually signed, stating that

         19  it was the position of the New York City Economic

         20  Development Corporation that if the Governor signed

         21  that legislation, and he did sign it, that, quote,

         22  "...the City would lose the capacity to direct IDA

         23  funds for reinvestment in economic development

         24  initiatives..." And that "...a lawsuit seriously

         25  undermines the City's economic development efforts."
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          2                 And, so, just we'd be happy to

          3  provide this to you and to your counsel. This is the

          4  position of the New York City Economic Development

          5  Corporation at the time the IDA legislation passed,

          6  that it would be in violation of the law if it

          7  redirected money to economic development initiatives

          8  if the legislation passed, which it did, so we'd be

          9  happy to provide that to you as well. You can pass

         10  it along to Corporation Counsel, who we wish were

         11  here.

         12                 MR. PAGE: I would be happy to receive

         13  a copy of the letter. Clearly the actions taken, or

         14  at least I would imagine that the actions taken

         15  since by EDC, which have included spending these

         16  revenues --

         17                 SPEAKER MILLER: Are inconsistent with

         18  their position that it's illegal.

         19                 MR. PAGE: --don't follow.

         20                 Well, or inconsistent with that

         21  letter at the time.

         22                 SPEAKER MILLER: Right. Yes, it is.

         23                 MR. PAGE: Perhaps.

         24                 SPEAKER MILLER: Okay. It's been a

         25  great pleasure, Mark.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Mr. Page, I'd

          3  just like to say, you did mention in a prior hearing

          4  that you would have no objection to providing data

          5  to the City Council as to the PILOT payments that

          6  are being made and the use of that payment. I assume

          7  that it's still your position?

          8                 MR. PAGE: Yes.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Okay. So then you

         10  would not object to that part of the legislation

         11  that would require monthly reporting as to those

         12  payments?

         13                 MR. PAGE: That's correct.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Okay. Well, we

         15  got a concession.

         16                 We've been joined by a couple of more

         17  colleagues. We have Council Member Gale Brewer from

         18  Manhattan, and Council Member Latitia James from

         19  Brooklyn.

         20                 Is Council Member Quinn here? No.

         21                 Council Member Provenzano.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER PROVENZANO: Thank you.

         23                 I just have one question, because I'm

         24  a little bit confused about this whole thing. This

         25  PILOTs program, we seem to be putting the blame on
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          2  our current Mayor. I noticed the Speaker said the

          3  prior three years. Does this not go back to

          4  Giuliani, Dinkins, Koch? I mean, this isn't

          5  something that was just initiated.

          6                 MR. PAGE: I think that's true.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER PROVENZANO: So, you'd

          8  say we're looking at what? Twenty years?

          9                 MR. PAGE: I think it's probably been

         10  true since certainly the New York City IDA was

         11  established, which you know, I don't know the date

         12  of that but it's been around forever, as far as I

         13  can recall. And the practice of payments under

         14  contract for entities that are exempt from tax

         15  payments is something that's also been around for a

         16  long time. I mean, the same thing can happen with

         17  charitable entities. I mean, it may be true in New

         18  York City, but in other places where you have a

         19  university or a hospital or something like that,

         20  that technically is not subject to local property

         21  taxes, but chooses to pay to a locality to support

         22  services under a contract, those are PILOTs. The

         23  concept is not new or very exotic, it's been around

         24  a long time.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER PROVENZANO: So it's
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          2  not unusual, obviously it's just come to the

          3  forefront because of the battle over the stadium,

          4  otherwise it probably would have just laid there the

          5  way it has.

          6                 And basically it's operated the same

          7  way in giving it to certain agencies. I mean, it

          8  hasn't changed.

          9                 MR. PAGE: I think that's been the

         10  practice for a long time also, in fact, the EDC's

         11  economic development efforts have been paid for out

         12  of the PILOT revenue.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER PROVENZANO: Okay,

         14  thank you.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Any final

         16  questions for the Budget Director?

         17                 Seeing none, thank you.

         18                 MR. PAGE: Thank you.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: The next witness

         20  is Ronnie Lowenstein, President of the Independent

         21  Budget Office.

         22                 Okay, since Ms. Lowenstein doesn't

         23  appear to be here right now, I'm going to call a

         24  panel. If you could all come up when I call your

         25  name.
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          2                 Anna Levin, from Community Board 4.

          3  Douglas Israel from the Citizens' Union. James

          4  Parrott from the Fiscal Policy Institute. Bettina

          5  Damiani from Good Jobs New York. And Chris Jones

          6  from the Regional Plan Association.

          7                 Okay, if you'll refine your remarks

          8  to three minutes or less, because we have quite a

          9  few speakers here, and we have an afternoon hearing

         10  as well. So, if you could try to do that, we would

         11  appreciate it.

         12                 Just for the record, Budget Director

         13  Page spoke for less than a minute before questions,

         14  so... Okay, you can proceed.

         15                 MR. PARROTT: If we could answer

         16  questions as we speak, it might save time in the

         17  longrun.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: You can answer

         19  questions.

         20                 MR. PARROTT: My name is James Parrott

         21  from the Fiscal Policy Institute.

         22                 In our opinion, there is no doubt

         23  that the City Charter and State law require

         24  legislative appropriation of payments in lieu of

         25  taxes.
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          2                 Section 227-A of the Charter states

          3  "no funds shall be paid from any fund under the

          4  management of the City or any fund under the

          5  management of any agency or officer of the City or

          6  any other entity the majority of the members of

          7  whose board are City officials or are appointed

          8  directly or indirectly by City officials, except in

          9  pursuance of an appropriation by the Council or

         10  other specific legal authorization."

         11                 In the portion of the State General

         12  Municipal Law dealing with industrial development

         13  agencies, section 874 section 3 states: "Payments in

         14  lieu of taxes received by the agency shall be

         15  remitted to each affected tax jurisdiction within

         16  thirty days of receipt."

         17                 The Mayor clearly has the authority

         18  under the State Municipal Law to enter into

         19  agreements requiring payments in lieu of taxes,

         20  section 858(15). If a Mayor also had the authority

         21  to spend PILOT revenues unilaterally, he or she

         22  might then be led to enter into such agreements for

         23  the purpose of generating more revenues solely under

         24  his or her control. This is clearly untenable.

         25                 Intro. No. 584 reaffirms that no
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          2  PILOT funds should be expended without Council

          3  appropriation, and requires the Mayor to provide a

          4  monthly report on the collection and use of all such

          5  payments in lieu of taxes.

          6                 Considering the current extent and

          7  amount of PILOT payments in New York City, and their

          8  extensive use in connection with economic

          9  development projects, including many that receive

         10  little public attention or oversight, a monthly

         11  PILOT report would help fill a noticeable gap in

         12  City information.

         13                 In particular, public understanding

         14  of the City's economic development actions would be

         15  aided by knowing: "the amount of the real property

         16  or other tax for which the person or entity paying

         17  the PILOT would have been responsible were the

         18  property or transaction not the subject of the tax

         19  exemption and the difference between such amount and

         20  the PILOT," that is, there's a tax payment involved

         21  in this PILOT, it could be clear how often those are

         22  being negotiated and what the impact is on the City

         23  budget.

         24                 The main focus of Intro. 584 is how

         25  PILOT revenues are spent. But the very existence of

                                                            34

          1  COMMITTEE ON FINANCE

          2  PILOTs represents a tax break. An entity agrees to

          3  make a PILOT payment in exchange for a reduced tax

          4  liability, whether it's the real property, sales or

          5  mortgage recording tax.

          6                 While the Mayor has the authority to

          7  grant tax breaks, the Council and the public should

          8  be fully aware of the extent and the fiscal

          9  implications of that practice. And I would urge the

         10  Council to use its influence to steer the City clear

         11  of excessive and unnecessary tax breaks. Not only do

         12  such tax breaks undermine the City's tax base, but

         13  since they most often go to large and well-endowed

         14  corporate interests, they unduly shift the tax

         15  burden to small-  and medium-sized businesses and

         16  renters and homeowners.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Okay, if you

         18  could sum up, please.

         19                 MR. PARROTT: Okay.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: And we'll

         21  consider the whole testimony in writing.

         22                 MR. PARROTT: Okay. Intro. 584 was a

         23  response to the Council's concern about how the

         24  Mayor has proposed to come up with a City subsidy of

         25  $300 million.
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          2                 It's also important for the City to

          3  revisit the issue of the use of PILOTs in connection

          4  with the financing for the Hudson Yards

          5  Infrastructure Corporation. In the City Council

          6  resolution passed in January at the time the Council

          7  approved the rezoning of the West Side, the Council

          8  modified the financing plan, but did not address

          9  directly the proposed use of extensive property tax

         10  on the west side intended to spur commercial

         11  development years down the road.

         12                 It seems to me untenable that the

         13  City is asking taxpayers to make a major investment

         14  in the extension of the Number 7 line and parks and

         15  other amenities on the west side and then advertise

         16  now, years before developers know what the market

         17  demand is on the west side that extensive property

         18  tax breaks will be provided.

         19                 The Speaker has a position on the

         20  Board of the Hudson Yards Infrastructure

         21  Corporation. I urge the Council and the Speaker, as

         22  well as the City Comptroller, to act now to regulate

         23  the use of proposed tax breaks years down the road.

         24                 If that is done now, it will make the

         25  financing for the Hudson Yards Infrastructure
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          2  Corporation more viable.

          3                 Thank you.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Thank you, Mr.

          5  Parrott.

          6                 We have been joined by Council Member

          7  Eva Moskowitz from Manhattan, and Council Member

          8  Simcha Felder from Brooklyn.

          9                 Proceed.

         10                 MS. DAMIANI: Good morning.

         11                 My name is Bettina Damiani. I'm the

         12  Project Director of Good Jobs New York. We're a

         13  project of the Fiscal Policy Institute, who has

         14  offices in Albany and New York City, and Good Jobs

         15  First based in Washington DC.

         16                 Thank you for the invitation to speak

         17  to you today. The controversy around the proposed

         18  stadium has sparked interest in the possible use of

         19  PILOT funds for that project. But the issue of who

         20  controls PILOTs goes beyond the debate about the

         21  merits of the far west side development proposal and

         22  addresses basic questions of good government.

         23                 As a subsidy watchdog organization,

         24  Good Jobs New York closely tracks New York City

         25  industrial development agencies, one of the entities
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          2  authorized under State law to negotiate PILOT

          3  agreements.

          4                 Our comments today will be restricted

          5  to IDA PILOTs only. In our review, current law

          6  mandates that IDA negotiated PILOT funds must be

          7  subject to appropriations by the City Council.

          8                 Turning all IDA-negotiated PILOTs

          9  over to the City's general revenue fund would not

         10  impact bondholders of IDA-issued tax-exempt bonds.

         11                 The reporting requirements in the

         12  proposed bill would bring a welcome measure of

         13  transparency to a section of the City's economic

         14  development policy that is still poorly understood

         15  by the public and policy makers.

         16                 Even if PILOT funds were subject to

         17  Council appropriations, using them or regular tax

         18  revenue to pay for private development projects - a

         19  process generally known as Tax Increment Financing,

         20  or TIF - is risky and must be done carefully in

         21  order to ensure adequate public benefits.

         22                 We share the Council's position that

         23  under current law, PILOT payments must be considered

         24  public funds, and that as such they are subject to

         25  appropriation by the City Council.
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          2                 GJNY has searched for, but has been

          3  unable to locate any other specific legal

          4  authorization that would permit the Mayor to drawn

          5  down from the PILOT Trustee fund at his discretion

          6  for special projects prior to the end of the Fiscal

          7  Year, at which point whatever funds remaining are

          8  turned over to the general revenue fund.

          9                 In an effort to better understand how

         10  PILOT funds may have been used by past mayors, we

         11  submitted a FOIL request to the Department of

         12  Finance for a list of all projects funded by

         13  discretionary use of PILOTs on February 18th, 2005.

         14  We are still waiting to hear a response from that

         15  request.

         16                 To the best of our knowledge, putting

         17  all PILOT funds into the general revenue fund in

         18  order to comply with the law would not compromise

         19  bondholders of tax-exempt IDA bonds in any way. In

         20  the course of our core work of monitoring commercial

         21  retention subsidies, we have reviewed many contracts

         22  between the IDA and companies receiving tax

         23  benefits, including PILOTs. We have never come

         24  across a project in which PILOT payments were

         25  dedicated to backing or paying off bonds, as is
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          2  proposed for the Jets stadium. PILOTs are used to

          3  convey a property tax break while bonds are used to

          4  convey a discount on financing.

          5                 If PILOTs must be remanded to the

          6  affected tax jurisdiction within 30 days of receipt,

          7  and if neither the City nor the State can be held

          8  responsible for the IDA bonds, then it seems clear

          9  that PILOTs cannot be the sole, dedicated source of

         10  revenue for paying off IDA debt.

         11                 We believe that in addition to being

         12  required by law, it is good policy for PILOTs --

         13                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: If you could just

         14  try to sum up?

         15                 MS. DAMIANI: All right.

         16                 -- And all public funds go through

         17  appropriations.

         18                 To this end, we are especially

         19  pleased that the bill includes strong reporting

         20  requirements that will allow the public and elected

         21  officials to track the use of PILOT payments going

         22  forward. And we urge the Council to make these

         23  reports even more transparent by requiring that they

         24  be made publicly available, without the need of a

         25  FOIL at the same time they're made available to the
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          2  Council. Thank you very much.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Thank you, Ms.

          4  Damiani.

          5                 MR. JONES: Good morning. My name is

          6  Chris Jones, and I am the Vice President for

          7  Research at -- is it on?

          8                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: The light has to

          9  be off to be on.

         10                 MR. JONES: Got it.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: It's a City

         12  Council thing.

         13                 MR. JONES: My name is Chris Jones,

         14  and I am Vice President for Research at Regional

         15  Plan Association, and I'm here to express RPA's

         16  strong support for the legislation being introduced

         17  by the Speaker and the Council members.

         18                 While the issue of PILOT payments has

         19  received scant attention before the Mayor indicated

         20  that PILOTs would be used to fund the proposed West

         21  Side stadium, disposition of PILOT payments is a

         22  longstanding issue.

         23                 While we are opposed to the stadium,

         24  we believe that the principle of legislative

         25  appropriation of public funds should be supported
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          2  regardless of where one stands on whether the

          3  stadium should be built.

          4                 The "power of the purse" is a central

          5  responsibility of the City Council, as it is with

          6  most legislative bodies in the United States, and

          7  with good reason. It ensures that New York's

          8  citizens have greater control over how their tax

          9  dollars are spent.

         10                 Legislative appropriation requires

         11  that the Mayor and Council negotiate and reach

         12  agreement on funding priorities - how much should go

         13  to schools, transit, development projects, housing

         14  and other needs. Citizens have a voice through

         15  elected officials in both branches of City

         16  government, and the budget process provides an

         17  opportunity to debate and determine what is in the

         18  best interests of the City.

         19                 In this respect, PILOTs should be

         20  considered no differently than other sources of

         21  revenue. Their very name, "payments in lieu of

         22  taxes," indicates that these should be treated like

         23  a property tax revenue that goes into the City's

         24  general funds.

         25                 These payments are a way of
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          2  generating revenue from property owners that are not

          3  paying property taxes, and are a means of providing

          4  compensation for the City services that they can

          5  consume, from police protection to transportation

          6  and sanitation services. Their disposition should be

          7  subject to the same process as ordinary property

          8  taxes.

          9                 While this issue transcends the

         10  stadium debate, the contention that the Mayor can

         11  use PILOTs to support debt service for the stadium

         12  illustrates why City Council approval is so

         13  important.

         14                 The City is sharply divided in an

         15  intense debate over the merits of the stadium, what

         16  should be built over the MTA's Hudson Yards, and how

         17  to generate the best possible, the greatest possible

         18  benefits from this property for the City and the

         19  State.

         20                 Such contentious policy decisions

         21  deserve the fullest possible debate before decisions

         22  are made.

         23                 However, by using PILOTs, the Mayor

         24  is circumventing the Council's legislative

         25  responsibility to vote on the merits of the project
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          2  and tens of millions of dollars that could be used

          3  for alternative purposes.

          4                 And it is more than the $300 million

          5  represented by the stadium payments that are at

          6  stake. The economic, environmental and community

          7  impacts of both the stadium and alternative uses for

          8  the site are critical to the future of the West

          9  Side. Since the zoning is likely to be determined by

         10  a State override of the State-owned rail yards, the

         11  Council can only weigh in through its appropriations

         12  authority.

         13                 Beyond funding an ill-conceived

         14  project, allowing the mayor to single-handedly

         15  determine PILOT disposition sets a dangerous

         16  precedent. With PILOT deals becoming more and more

         17  prevalent, we risk damaging our democracy by

         18  shutting the City Council out of the decision-making

         19  process for an increasing portion of the City's

         20  budget.

         21                 The proposed legislation will ensure

         22  that the balance of power remains intact in our City

         23  government, and we strongly support it. Thank you.

         24                 MS. LEVIN: Thank you. My name is Anna

         25  Levin. I'm First Vice Chair of Manhattan Community
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          2  Board No. 4, a member of the Hell's Kitchen Hudson

          3  Yards Alliance.

          4                 This is an excellent piece of

          5  legislation that deserves quick passage. The law

          6  states the obvious: Federal and State Constitutions

          7  and local governmental Charters across the country

          8  establish a clear constitutional principle that in a

          9  representative democracy the appropriation of public

         10  funds is a legislative prerogative and

         11  responsibility. We are here today because this

         12  City's Executive believes otherwise. Thankfully, the

         13  sponsors of Intro. 584 have called the question.

         14                 Many of us were shocked to learn at

         15  this Committee's hearing on February 7, that the

         16  City proposes to finance its $300 million

         17  contribution to the Jets Stadium, by hocking not

         18  just some existing revenue streams, as they had been

         19  benignly described by City officials during the

         20  ULURP process, but every last one of the 261

         21  existing PILOT agreements established by the EDC and

         22  the IDA. That was a wake-up for all of us.

         23                 Only two weeks earlier this Council

         24  had signed off on a Land Use plan for the Hudson

         25  Yards in which it was promised that abundant PILOT
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          2  revenues would flow into the City's general fund,

          3  from the development that is certain to occur in the

          4  Hudson Yards.

          5                 We should all now be incredulous that

          6  the Administration asserts the authority to divert

          7  PILOT revenues, the public's funds, without an

          8  appropriation by this Council in accordance with the

          9  Charter of the City of New York. Stating the

         10  obvious, as this local law does, has become

         11  necessary.

         12                 I would point out that New York's

         13  highest court has confirmed that the essential

         14  purpose for payments in lieu of taxes is to

         15  reimburse affected taxing authorities for revenue

         16  lost by virtue of the real property tax exemption

         17  afforded by industrial development agency projects.

         18  The cases cited in my statement.

         19                 If you listened carefully to the way

         20  Mr. Page described these revenue streams, the ones

         21  he's been talking about are contract revenues that

         22  are not payments in lieu of taxes. But the New York

         23  State Court of Appeal has made it clear that

         24  payments in lieu of taxes are the equivalent of

         25  taxes and should flow into the general fund
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          2  accordingly.

          3                 PILOTs are public funds. Intro. 584

          4  will ensure that this Council and the public will

          5  know where they come from and will control where

          6  they go. That's what democratic fiscal policy

          7  requires.

          8                 Thank you.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Thanks, Ms.

         10  Levin.

         11                 (Audience outburst.)

         12                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Excuse me. Excuse

         13  me. I'm going to ask for decorum. We can't have this

         14  after someone speaks on one side or another. You'll

         15  have to limit -- please leave.

         16                 Mr. Israel.

         17                 If there are any more outbursts, I'm

         18  going to have to ask people to leave. So, please try

         19  to keep your outbursts -- if you want slight

         20  applause, fine. But that's it. No outbursts. No

         21  continuous applause.

         22                 MR. ISRAEL: Thank you. Good morning.

         23  I'm Douglas Israel, the Advocacy Director with

         24  Citizens' Union, a century old force for good

         25  government here in New York City.
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          2                 As you may know, Citizens' Union has

          3  consistently pressed for a greater role for the City

          4  Council, members of our State Legislature and the

          5  public in the plan to develop the Hudson Yards on

          6  the far west side of Manhattan.

          7                 We firmly believe that no municipal

          8  funds should be expended to support the building of

          9  the Jets Stadium/New York Sports and Convention

         10  Center without a vote by the City Council on the

         11  entire plan and the financing of such a plan.

         12                 In this particular context, with such

         13  a great expenditure of public funds for the

         14  Stadium/Sports and Convention Center being

         15  discussed, without full legislative approval at any

         16  level, it is simply good government that our local

         17  elected officials be allowed to participate in the

         18  decision-making process with expenditure of well

         19  over $300 million in City funds.

         20                 Citizens' Union believes that no

         21  PILOTs should be used to finance the significant

         22  contribution from the City unless approved by the

         23  City Council, given the significant policy choices

         24  being made.

         25                 However, we do not think the law
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          2  affecting PILOTs in the manner proposed in Section 2

          3  should be made in an environment where there is

          4  sharp disagreement between those who support and

          5  those who do not support the proposed Hudson Yards

          6  development as proposed by the Administration

          7  without first conducting the reporting that is

          8  outlined in Section 3.

          9                 Though representative democracy calls

         10  for legislative participation in the spending of

         11  public funds, it is premature to consider whether

         12  PILOT funds in general should be expended without a

         13  City Council appropriation until a comprehensive

         14  inventory of all PILOT funds is conducted,

         15  particularly since the practice of using these

         16  PILOTs has apparently not previously involved the

         17  City Council.

         18                 With that in mind, Citizens' Union

         19  strongly supports Section 3 of the legislation

         20  requiring that the Mayor report to the Council

         21  exactly what PILOTs exist, how they are collected

         22  and how they are used.

         23                 PILOTs and the public corporations

         24  that collect and spend the payments should be

         25  subject to a greater level of review, disclosure and
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          2  accountability, so that proper decisions about the

          3  future and proper handling of PILOTs can be

          4  adequately and legally addressed.

          5                 It is from this position of greater

          6  transparency disclosure knowledge that we should be

          7  able to make more adequate -- we should be able to

          8  more adequately debate the merits and appropriate

          9  use and expenditures of PILOTs.

         10                 Thank you.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Thank you.

         12                 MS. LEVIN: No questions, I take it?

         13                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: All right, I'm

         14  now going to call another panel. Thank you very

         15  much.

         16                 Do any colleagues have any questions?

         17  No, thank you.

         18                 Council Member Moskowitz had a

         19  statement.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ: Thank you,

         21  Chair Weprin.

         22                 I just wanted to make a brief

         23  statement, I have a number of other meetings to go

         24  to and I wanted to express my support of this

         25  legislation.
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          2                 You know, we wear many different hats

          3  as Council Members, in my former life I was a civics

          4  teacher teaching ninth, tenth and eleventh grade for

          5  civics, and this seems to me a basic question. You

          6  cannot spend taxpayer money in the dark. There has

          7  to be an open and deliberative process. I personally

          8  oppose the stadium, but no matter what side of that

          9  issue we were on, this is an issue that is going to

         10  affect our City in perpetuity.

         11                 These are funds that have to have

         12  public input and public oversight, and I would hope

         13  that as we have this discussion, the very long-term

         14  good government aspect of this legislation is kept

         15  in mind.

         16                 If we don't have a public input and

         17  public oversight our City will be poorer

         18  governmentally as a result.

         19                 Thank you very much, Chair Weprin.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Thank you.

         21                 I'm now going to call upon another

         22  panel. We have Dennis Milton from the Iron Workers.

         23  Barry Rubinstein, CPA. Assistant Chief Stan

         24  Hirschkorn from the Association of Auxiliary

         25  Volunteer Firefighters, and James Mahoney from Local
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          2  580. If you could all come up.

          3                 And following this panel we'll hear

          4  from Ronnie Lowenstein from the Independent Budget

          5  Office.

          6                 Okay, who wants to go first?

          7                 ASSISTANT CHIEF HIRSCHKORN: Do you

          8  want me to go first?

          9                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Sure, Chief. Go

         10  ahead.

         11                 ASSISTANT CHIEF HIRSCHKORN: Good

         12  morning, Mr. Chairman, members of the City Council,

         13  and my fellow Americans. My name is Stan Hirschkorn.

         14  I'm Assistant Chief with the State of New York,

         15  Association of Auxiliary Volunteer Firefighters of

         16  Greater New York.

         17                 My purpose here today with this West

         18  Side Stadium is different than what the other

         19  testified. I'm testifying on priorities. If there is

         20  money, the top priority is not sports arenas. The

         21  top priority is the rebuked civilians, and second

         22  responders, to be prepared, trained and equipped in

         23  the event that we're attacked again, as we were on

         24  9/11 at the World Trade Center. And believe me, the

         25  threat has not ceased. The Al Qaeda is waiting for
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          2  the right day, the right time an the right place to

          3  strike, and they will. And if they do strike, we're

          4  going to be in deeper trouble than what we were at

          5  the World Trade Center.

          6                 We have money. The Mayor is always

          7  yelling the City has no money. He's always yelling

          8  that the City is in the red. Where is he getting

          9  billions of dollars to build a stadium? Answer me

         10  that question. Where is he finding money all of a

         11  sudden?

         12                 If he has money, extra money, it is

         13  for the defense of this City and our nation against

         14  attack. We have no civil defense. That was abolished

         15  in 1995. We have no auxiliary fire service in the

         16  Fire Department. We are not prepared. And it's

         17  already four years almost from 9/11. If there's

         18  extra money, it goes to defending this City, not to

         19  a stadium for sports.

         20                 Thank you.

         21                 MR. MAHONEY: Hello. My name is James

         22  Mahoney, and I'm with Iron Workers, Local 580. I'm a

         23  proud member of Local 580. We're here today. We're

         24  here today on a question. We're here today on a

         25  question about legislation that's being introduced,
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          2  not for the purpose of the legislation, over 20

          3  years PILOT programs have been used. This Council

          4  has sat by while the PILOT programs have been used.

          5  This is a question about the stadium, and you're

          6  using that as a guise for this.

          7                 But when we're talking about second

          8  responders, I want everybody to know something about

          9  this room and the Iron Workers that are in this

         10  room. On 9/11, when this City was attacked, the

         11  second responders were the Iron Workers in this room

         12  to go down there and dig those people out. And these

         13  Iron Workers right now in this room, who are not

         14  being paid to be here, are in need of good jobs.

         15                 The purpose of this Council, the

         16  purpose of this Council should definitely not be to

         17  impede this particular project, and that is the

         18  purpose of this legislation. What we need now is a

         19  Council that is going to focus on leadership,

         20  leadership that wasn't there while the West Side

         21  Yards lay dormant for years, a haven for drug

         22  addicts and prostitutes. No. Today we have

         23  leaderships and we are going to build on that West

         24  Side Yard, and I would hope that the Council would

         25  look past this and look for legislation later on
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          2  when they really have a clear head and they're not

          3  just thinking about the West Side Stadium, and,

          4  again, I'm very proud of the volunteer firemen, but

          5  nobody in this room should deny those guys who went

          6  out to the Trade Center on 9/11 a job because they

          7  deserve it and their families deserve it.

          8                 Thank you.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: The light has to

         10  be off to be on.

         11                 MR. MILTON: Good morning. My name is

         12  Dennis Milton. I'm a business aid with Iron Workers,

         13  Local 580, in New York City.

         14                 We need the future for the Stadium of

         15  New York City for economic growth (sic). The Iron

         16  Workers were a rare breed. When this City was

         17  attacked on September 11th, a call went out for

         18  help. It was the Iron Workers who responded along

         19  with the firemen, the policemen, the doctors, the

         20  nurses, and the Office of the OEM. Not opposition.

         21  You want to get something done? You gotta dig in and

         22  do it. Not opposition is going to do it. They're

         23  going to sit back.

         24                 What this City needs is economic

         25  growth, not opposition. This City is in need of
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          2  bondness, togetherness, not opposition. Cablevision

          3  offered $600 million. First of all, Cablevision

          4  didn't want the stadium. Stop and ask yourself,

          5  where did they get the $600 million from? They don't

          6  have it. That's the truth of it. If they need it,

          7  they're going to raise your prices. And if they had

          8  $600 million, don't you think they should give it

          9  back to you? Not on your life. They wouldn't give

         10  you a penny.

         11                 And I ask to give it back to the

         12  customers.

         13                 And if Cablevision bills, is there

         14  any cost overruns? They're going to pass it on,

         15  guess who to? The customers. That's you guys. That's

         16  the opposition. That's the people who are in favor

         17  of it. That's everybody. You'll get it.

         18                 And here on the break on the cable

         19  bill, we go up and up and up. All the money goes,

         20  you're paying for it. The Iron Workers need this

         21  stadium, along with the Building Trades of New York

         22  City. We did not turn our backs on 9/11, don't turn

         23  your backs on the Iron Workers. Thank you.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: You had a quick

         25  statement?
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          2                 ASSISTANT CHIEF HIRSCHKORN: Can I be

          3  permitted to answer his question about --

          4                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: No, it's not a

          5  debate. No.

          6                 MR. RUBINSTEIN: Okay, my name is

          7  Barry Rubinstein, CPA. I'm a private citizen. First,

          8  I have to apologize, I came here more under the

          9  impression that this was more of a pro-con for the

         10  Stadium, as opposed to a legislation legal issue.

         11                 However, funds should be allocated

         12  the PILOT program revenues, expenditures, for full

         13  year-round projects, not a project. There are only

         14  eight home games scheduled in an NFL season. We

         15  should have these funds, expenditures, PILOT

         16  programs, revenues, allocated to full-year-run

         17  facilities, use all full-year-round that will create

         18  full year high-paying jobs, not these traditional

         19  low-paying seasonal jobs that are just about, just

         20  about going to be security, food, customer service

         21  -- I'm sure we'll all familiar with the pay scale

         22  of these type of jobs.

         23                 Okay, thank you very much.

         24                 I would just like to say one thing to

         25  the booers. In the 1960s, there was a presidential

                                                            57

          1  COMMITTEE ON FINANCE

          2  candidate that ran on the slogan, "In your heart,

          3  you know he's right."

          4                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Okay. We'll now

          5  hear from Ronnie Lowenstein, President of the

          6  Independent Budget Office.

          7                 Ms. Lowenstein.

          8                 Good morning.

          9                 MS. LOWENSTEIN: Good morning. Thank

         10  you, Chairman Weprin, members of the Council, for

         11  inviting IBO to testify. I'd also like to apologize

         12  for the confusion over the timing. We thought we'd

         13  be on at about 11:30, and ran here as soon as I

         14  could.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: And it is 11:30.

         16                 MS. LOWENSTEIN: And it is 11:30 and

         17  I'm out of breath.

         18                 Okay, what I'm going to be talking

         19  about is largely budget process issues. You got my

         20  testimony in front of you. We raised concerns about

         21  the use of PILOTs, and what it did to bypass the

         22  Council's role in the appropriations process when we

         23  testified on the Jets Stadium last month. Our

         24  position on that hasn't changed at all, and we're

         25  hopeful that this Intro. 584 will go some distance
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          2  to the weight of remedying some of these concerns.

          3                 First of all, appropriations is a

          4  core function of the legislative branch. That's what

          5  legislatures at every level of government do. That's

          6  your prerogative. That's how you set budget

          7  priorities, that's why you need these funds to be

          8  put through the budget process so we have authority

          9  over them.

         10                 Intro. 584 would help with that.

         11                 In addition to these concerns,

         12  though, about the Council's role in appropriations,

         13  we've got other concerns as well, that center on

         14  transparency and issues of accountability.

         15                 Right now the total of PILOTs

         16  received by the IDA, the City's Industrial

         17  Development Agency, is an unknown. No one in the

         18  Administration, no one outside of the

         19  Administration, except for people within that

         20  system, know exactly what that flow of funds is.

         21  That's unacceptable.

         22                 We're hopeful that the Comptroller's

         23  audit of this will make it better, will give us some

         24  information, but we need this information, not just

         25  on a one-time audit, we need it on an ongoing basis,
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          2  and we need it with the same degree of independence

          3  and clarity that we get in the rest of the City's

          4  budget documents. We need to be able to depend upon

          5  it.

          6                 While we don't know the level of

          7  PILOTs that flow to the IDA, we do know what the

          8  City is counting on in terms of funds coming in over

          9  the next several years. So, through 2009, we know

         10  the City's financial plan counts on roughly $40

         11  million a year in IDA PILOTs to come in to be

         12  appropriated by the Council.

         13                 Whether or not that's the sum total

         14  of IDA payments is an open question. IBO went back

         15  and took a look at the Local Law 69 report that's

         16  published annually by the Economic Development

         17  Corporation.

         18                 The report is badly flawed, we've

         19  written reams on how bad the report is and how it

         20  doesn't really take into account all the payments

         21  that come in, but looking at that, it's clear that

         22  there is more $40 million a year that have been

         23  coming in in recent years. The key is to figure out

         24  how much more, and that's what you need to find out,

         25  and hopefully that's what 584 will help do.
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          2                 Another issue is accountability on

          3  top of transparency. While those PILOT funds reside

          4  within IDA, it's only at the discretion of the Mayor

          5  that those funds get expended.

          6                 So, this is on the basis of the

          7  memorandum of understanding that was signed in 1992

          8  between OMB, Department of Finance, IDA and EDC, all

          9  within the Administration, while those funds reside

         10  there it's on their word that these funds get

         11  dispersed. That's obviously also -- runs totally

         12  counter to New York's strong tradition in terms of

         13  accountability and openness of the budget process,

         14  and quite honestly, undermines people's public trust

         15  in the process as a whole.

         16                 The final issue that we bring up is

         17  oversight. Obviously, the Council and IBO and others

         18  can't do oversight when we can't see what the monies

         19  are.

         20                 Hopefully 584 will help with this as

         21  well.

         22                 So, on the basis of the Council's

         23  role in appropriating funds, on the basis of

         24  transparency and accountability and on the basis of

         25  your ability to do oversight, all of these things
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          2  argue for legislation that would bring these funds

          3  onto the City's general funds budget.

          4                 Thank you.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Thank you, Ms.

          6  Lowenstein.

          7                 Council Member Tisch James had a

          8  question.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Ms. Lowenstein,

         10  how are you? You know this legislation may or may

         11  not impact on another stadium in Brooklyn, which I

         12  have strong opinions about, and, so, it's the

         13  Manhattan Stadium in Brooklyn, so the West Side

         14  Reducs (phonetic) Atlantic Yards. So, my question

         15  is, in the Atlantic Yards it's an MOU where there's

         16  not an IDA involved. In fact, all of the funds go to

         17  the State, and so the question that I have is would

         18  this legislation have an impact on the Atlantic

         19  Yards project? Because if an IDA is not involved, it

         20  goes directly to the State, and this legislation

         21  only talks about a local development corporation,

         22  not a State development corporation.

         23                 MS. LOWENSTEIN: Okay, that's a legal

         24  issue I probably can't handle. First of all, my

         25  general counsel isn't here. It's hard to see where,
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          2  this really focuses on the IDA and PILOT funding.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Right.

          4                 MS. LOWENSTEIN: It's hard to see

          5  where that would apply to the Atlantic Yards issue.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: I just was

          7  reading it and thinking it through in my head, and I

          8  don't know whether or not this legislation would

          9  apply. We would have to revisit it.

         10                 MS. LOWENSTEIN: Not unless the

         11  Administration were to talk about funding their

         12  contribution through the same mechanism.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Because as you

         14  know, in Atlantic Yards, they use PILOTs, but it's

         15  set up like a TIF, a Tax Increment Financing,

         16  because the PILOTs are being used to pay off the

         17  bonds for the Stadium in Brooklyn, which I think is

         18  a worse scenario than the West Side, but no one

         19  seems to want to pay attention because the West Side

         20  is what's happening now.

         21                 MS. LOWENSTEIN: Okay, a couple of

         22  dimensions on that. We still don't -- I'm not aware

         23  of how the Administration is proposing to fund its,

         24  I believe it's $100 million contribution to the

         25  Atlantic Yards Project.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: A hundred from

          3  the City and a hundred from the State.

          4                 MS. LOWENSTEIN: If the City were to

          5  go to this mechanism, then it would apply, and in no

          6  way is Atlantic Yards in any way unimportant to the

          7  City as a whole or to the people who live there. Of

          8  course it is.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: In Brooklyn we

         10  would like to think so.

         11                 MS. LOWENSTEIN: Oh, I'm sorry. I've

         12  just been corrected. The Chief of Staff points out

         13  that the City's contribution in that case is within

         14  the capital budget, so they're not proposing to go

         15  this route so it wouldn't apply.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: It would not

         17  apply, okay. Thank you.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Thank you. We've

         19  been joined by Council Member Bill DeBlasio from

         20  Brooklyn, and Council Member Mike McMahon from

         21  Staten Island.

         22                 The next questioner is Council Member

         23  Christine Quinn.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Ronnie, I was

         25  wondering, could you tell us, in the past what has
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          2  been the more typical amount of PILOTs that have

          3  been diverted from the budget, or the general fund?

          4                 MS. LOWENSTEIN: We don't know.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Okay.

          6                 MS. LOWENSTEIN: That's exactly the

          7  point. We know what's coming in but we don't know

          8  what it is we're not getting. And that's really the

          9  key here. I mean, I think that's the critical

         10  question. We've got to know exactly what that total

         11  is, and bring that total on budget, so that it can

         12  go through the same open and transparent process

         13  that the rest of the City funding does.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Now, I had

         15  heard numbers in the past that what we believed to

         16  be true was that this type of diversion had never

         17  been used for say over $100,000 a pop. Do you have

         18  any sense of whether that's true?

         19                 MS. LOWENSTEIN: If you look at the

         20  IDA's annual reports which are not compendiums of

         21  information, they do list specific projects, I think

         22  some of which have gone up as high as a little over

         23  a million, various studies of different sorts, and

         24  those are laid out. Generally speaking they are

         25  indeed smaller.

                                                            65

          1  COMMITTEE ON FINANCE

          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: What is your

          3  sense of who makes the decision of whether money

          4  will go into the budget, or whether it will be

          5  diverted to another project, or whatever?

          6                 MS. LOWENSTEIN: It would appear that

          7  that decision is made entirely within the

          8  Administration. It's at the discretion of the Mayor

          9  that these funds get moved. That's a problem.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Do you know

         11  which part of the Administration?

         12                 Director Page was fairly circumspect

         13  about some of these points. What I took from

         14  testimony and other discussions is that it seems to

         15  probably rest in the Mayor's Office proper, that

         16  this decision is made.

         17                 You may not know, which is in and of

         18  itself not related to you but an indication of a

         19  problem.

         20                 MS. LOWENSTEIN: I think the whole

         21  thing is problematic, yes.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Thank you.

         23                 Thank you, Mr. Chair.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Thank you.

         25                 Council Member Brewer.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Thank you. I

          3  think all the way back to State Senator Franz

          4  Leichter we've been talking about this issue, for

          5  those of us who have been around for a long time.

          6  And one of my questions is, is there a feeling that

          7  the IDA, when they are producing abatements for

          8  jobs, is this the same diversion project that we're

          9  talking about? Because Director Page mentioned

         10  NYCHA, Battery Park, and I think there were several

         11  different agencies that use IDA as a conduit, but is

         12  that also part of programs in the past that have

         13  said, okay, we're using this conduit for producing

         14  jobs? There were many stories in the eighties

         15  regarding telephone companies, other industrial

         16  organizations that said we are going to produce jobs

         17  and we get an abatement as a result. Now, was that

         18  part of the IDA process, or was that ICIP?

         19                 The reason I ask is this has been

         20  going on for a very long time.

         21                 Doug may know.

         22                 MS. LOWENSTEIN: Okay, let me just

         23  introduce IBO's Chief of Staff Doug Teretsky.

         24                 MR. TERETSKY: Hi. It was either/or.

         25  Sometimes IDA would use --
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Right into the

          3  mic, Doug.

          4                 MR. TERETSKY: Yes. Sometimes IDA was

          5  used, sometimes it was ICIP. But, yes, IDA was used.

          6  I think it started back in the eighties for where

          7  they would subsidize a development project of a

          8  varying scale, some of them are quite small, with

          9  the goal of saving or creating jobs, and there would

         10  be bonds issued by the IDA and PILOT payments would

         11  go to pay off the debt service on those bonds.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Right. So,

         13  what I'm trying to say is, even today when I'm

         14  wondering, since those of us have long memories, and

         15  this is something that I should know the answer to,

         16  I just didn't know if it was part of the

         17  Comptroller's report or part of the IDA report, that

         18  there are different kinds of projects that get

         19  funneled through IDA. And I don't know if that's

         20  still true. In which case it would be a multitude of

         21  decision-makers, I would assume.

         22                 MS. LOWENSTEIN: Okay, we're going to

         23  have to look into that one for you.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: We're talking

         25  about the PILOT now, and I understand that, that's
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          2  one aspect of IDA. There have always been issues

          3  regarding are there really jobs that result,

          4  long-term jobs as a result of this abatement, and

          5  there was always a question as to who is monitoring,

          6  who is making sure, who is the long-term overseer,

          7  and I was just wondering if you had any sense of

          8  that.

          9                 MS. LOWENSTEIN: Let me make another

         10  point.

         11                 Ultimately, the long-term oversight

         12  here is indeed from the Council. It was to that end

         13  that Local Law 69 required reporting from EDC.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Correct.

         15                 MS. LOWENSTEIN: Unfortunately that

         16  Local Law 69 report is badly flawed. It only

         17  presents a snapshot of deals within seven years of

         18  signing. These payments occur over a much longer

         19  period of time than that.

         20                 Moreover, it's virtually impossible

         21  to decipher.  Different numbers can mean different

         22  things at different times. And ultimately, as you

         23  look from one report to another, history changes,

         24  they're inconsistent.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Do you think
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          2  584 addresses some of the flaws of 69, or do we need

          3  different legislation or maybe you could get back to

          4  us about that?

          5                 MS. LOWENSTEIN: Although it could

          6  help certainly, because the extent that it has --

          7  you know, they have to put these monies in, you will

          8  know what they are, but that wouldn't totally

          9  obviate the need for a better Local Law 69 report,

         10  that actually tells you what jobs are being created.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Right. Okay,

         12  thank you very much.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Thank you. Thank

         14  you, Ms. Lowenstein.

         15                 As always, it's always a pleasure to

         16  rely on you coming and giving your position on

         17  various issues of this Committee and we do

         18  appreciate it.

         19                 MS. LOWENSTEIN: Thank you.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: I'm now going to

         21  call another panel. They don't necessarily belong

         22  together, but just easy to get everybody up

         23  together.

         24                 Tom Collins. Bill Borock. Albert

         25  Bennett, and Marilyn Sirasky.
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          2                 We've been joined by Council Member

          3  Larry Seabrook, from the Bronx.

          4                 MR. BENNETT: I believe you called Tom

          5  Collins first?

          6                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: It doesn't

          7  matter. Choose among yourselves.

          8                 MR. BENNETT: Okay, go ahead.

          9                 MR. BOROCK: My name is Bill Borock.

         10  I'm President of the Chelsea Block Associations,

         11  which is a coalition of block associations

         12  representing 20 blocks active in Chelsea.

         13                 In past hearings and meetings the

         14  Council has submitted written testimony and

         15  verbalized our position to the building of a stadium

         16  on the west side of Manhattan for a variety of

         17  reasons, which are on record.

         18                 Once again, we want our communities'

         19  voices to be heard. We deplore the Mayor's attempt

         20  to bypass the City Council as he tries to force a

         21  stadium to be built against the wishes of the

         22  majority of the constituents and their specific

         23  community.

         24                 Today there is no need to repeat all

         25  the reasons we oppose his misguided efforts. For the
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          2  purpose of today's hearing, the Council of Chelsea

          3  Block Association's position is short and simple: We

          4  strongly support the City Council's effort to pass a

          5  bill that will prohibit the Mayor from spending City

          6  money from payments in lieu of taxes without the

          7  approval and support of the City Council.

          8                 Our elected officials have the right

          9  to be involved in the decision-making process with

         10  regard to budgetary matters. We say no to the

         11  building of the stadium on the west side, we say yes

         12  to the City Council's proposed bill, to prohibit the

         13  Mayor from spending PILOTs money without the

         14  Council's approval. Thank you.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Thank you.

         16                 MR. BENNETT: My name is Albert

         17  Bennett. I am representing the Greenwich Village

         18  Community Task Force. My primary purpose in being

         19  here is to make certain that the Committee

         20  understands that it is not just the residents of

         21  Chelsea and Hell's Kitchen who support this

         22  legislation.

         23                 I would also like to note that this

         24  whole concept of the PILOT program, I've lived for

         25  50 years at the same address on Martin Street and
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          2  I've been involved in community affairs, and it was

          3  a previous hearing here was the first time I ever

          4  heard about the PILOT program, and if there were

          5  some way to make this more, make the public more

          6  aware, what appears to be a subterfuge for the Mayor

          7  to divert funds, I would very much appreciate that.

          8                 Also, I would like to point out that

          9  Community Board 2 passed a resolution that would

         10  support this legislation.

         11                 Thank you.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Thank you.

         13                 MS. SIRASKY: My name is Marilyn

         14  Sirasky. I have been a resident of Hell's Kitchen

         15  for 30 years, and a very active member of Hell's

         16  Kitchen on many levels for all those years and I

         17  want to thank you. This, to me, is the most

         18  important meeting that I have attended, and I have

         19  attended all of them, because I do believe that we

         20  need you more than we have needed you in the history

         21  of the City.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Me personally?

         23                 MS. SIRASKY: Yeah. All of you.

         24  Because of the precedent setting nature of this

         25  particular project.
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          2                 And we really want City Planning back

          3  in the project. It's not just economic development,

          4  it is true City planning. I spent all morning

          5  talking to Jimmy, who is an iron worker, and I am

          6  really saddened by the fact that everybody is gone

          7  by the time we have this opportunity to express

          8  ourselves, not in an adversarial mode. And really,

          9  it's not for me today about the stadium or not the

         10  stadium, it really is a question of having our City

         11  Council meet the needs of our City and our residents

         12  and our long-term plans, and we want you to have the

         13  right to speak in this situation, and heartily

         14  approve of this legislation.

         15                 Thank you very much.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: The next group of

         17  individuals, if you could all come up together is

         18  Tom -- forgive me if I mispronounce the name. It's

         19  hard to read the handwriting here -- Tom Wein (sic).

         20  Suzanne Lanier Philips. Frederick Sirasky. Are you

         21  related to Marilyn? Marilyn's husband? Okay, you get

         22  two bites at the apple.

         23                 Regina Cross, and Joe Restuccia.

         24                 MR. WEISS: Who is first?

         25                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Go ahead. Just
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          2  go.

          3                 MR. WEISS: Okay. My name is not Wees,

          4  it's Tom Weiss.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Sorry.

          6                 MR. WEISS: I'm the publisher of Up

          7  Front News, I'm representing my paper.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: I know the paper.

          9                 MR. WEISS: What?

         10                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: I know the paper.

         11                 MR. WEISS: You know the paper, good.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: I do.

         13                 MR. WEISS: The news is free, so no

         14  subscriptions necessary, and I don't take any

         15  advertising, but I do some stories.

         16                 Anyway, one of the stories is about

         17  this. I'm also representing a group that may seem

         18  far removed, but it no longer is because it will

         19  hook in with the Olympic question. I represent a

         20  group called "The People United for a Free Tibet,"

         21  who are becoming interested in the notion of the

         22  Olympics because the 2008 Olympics is now for the

         23  time being centered in what I call "Genocide City."

         24  Congressman Weiner is among those looking into

         25  questions as to whether it's appropriate to keep an
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          2  Olympics in a place like that, which is slaughtering

          3  the people of Tibet. It might be better to have an

          4  Olympics in the Borough of Queens, which is the

          5  melting pot, not Manhattan.

          6                 At any rate, the Olympics and the

          7  stadium, of course, are all in this matter together.

          8  I've already submitted pretty strong testimony as to

          9  why there is no conceivable justification for

         10  spending any money, either front door by tax

         11  abatement or back door by PILOTs, to subsidize an

         12  operation which will have nothing but an

         13  inflationary effect on the entire life of the City

         14  of New York, and will benefit a handful of possibly

         15  steroid-infused football players, et cetera, for

         16  eight games out of the year.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: That's baseball.

         18                 MR. WEISS: And then they're also

         19  holding out this false carrot of a Super Bowl, which

         20  the Jets have about as much chance of getting into

         21  as I do in 2010. The whole thing is a total rip off,

         22  and it's got to stop.

         23                 There is no justification for a

         24  multi-billionaire Mayor even implying that even a

         25  portion of the $300 million that he wants to pump
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          2  into this project while people are sleeping on the

          3  streets can be justified. It's no way. It's not

          4  going to happen. It's going to be part, right away,

          5  of my campaign against Hillary Clinton who is

          6  totally silent on this issue because she's busy

          7  nuzzling up to Donald Trump and that type of person.

          8                 Anyway, I am running against her in

          9  the Democratic primary, but I'm not here to make

         10  that statement.

         11                 However, I think it is absolutely

         12  critical that, I read in the preamble to the intro

         13  that the United States Constitution and the State

         14  Constitution mandate that public monies must be a

         15  product of public legislation. The PILOT thing is a

         16  back door maneuver to siphon off money from the

         17  public treasury without getting the City Council to

         18  engage in its constitutional requirement to act on

         19  that. That is back door.

         20                 If the Mayor is so interested in

         21  doing it back door, he simply has to go, send one of

         22  his valets to the bank to withdraw money from his

         23  own account and subsidize it.

         24                 Otherwise, so I am endorsing this

         25  legislation. And just a final punchline: This is one
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          2  pilot that cannot fly. Thank you.

          3                 I have copies of my related

          4  statements, which I'll be glad to inflict upon you

          5  guys. Okay.

          6                 MR. SIRASKY: I'm Fred Sirasky. I'm a

          7  member of the West 45th Street Block Association.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: And how long have

          9  you been married to Marilyn?

         10                 MR. SIRASKY: Thirty-five years.

         11                 I was listening to Director Page

         12  indicate his belief that legally, that this

         13  legislation you're proposing was not legal, that you

         14  couldn't change the Charter, that the Council

         15  couldn't change the Charter.

         16                 I'm urging the Council to pass this

         17  legislation, and then let the legal chips fall where

         18  they may.

         19                 In other words, go head, pass it, and

         20  then if you have to go into the courts, let that

         21  happen to. I am against the stadium, and as far as

         22  I'm concerned, that would just delay the whole thing

         23  further.

         24                 So, I also have a statement for the

         25  Iron Workers. I am a member of a union, and I saw
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          2  yesterday that the Cablevision has come up with a

          3  plan for the west side, and I believe, just as an

          4  aside, that there would be more jobs for the Iron

          5  Workers.  If we did Cablevision's plan on the west

          6  side and then build a stadium in Queens, there would

          7  be twice the jobs. So, jobs to me is not an issue.

          8  Thank you.

          9                 MS. LANIER PHILIPS: Hi. I'm Suzanne

         10  Lanier Philips. I live at 470 West 24th Street. I

         11  have a business in Chelsea. I have a recording

         12  studio. I haven't really prepared anything because I

         13  spent the last week running around to public schools

         14  looking for a school to put my pre-k daughter into.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Very

         16  understandable.

         17                 MS. LANIER PHILIPS: And what I've

         18  been able to see is that the schools need money

         19  desperately. If you want to spend money on

         20  something, spend it on schools.

         21                 I support this legislation because I

         22  want somebody I elected to decide where money goes,

         23  and I want to be able to have a say in where my tax

         24  money goes. And I see there's a lot of Councilpeople

         25  that aren't here anymore, but I would --
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Council Member

          3  Koppell and I will relate --

          4                 MS. LANIER PHILIPS: Oh, good.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: And Council

          6  Member Fidler.

          7                 MS. LANIER PHILIPS: Well, it's not a

          8  case of NIMBY. I know what the situation is in my

          9  neighborhood because I live there.

         10                 I would not presume to go to Harlem

         11  and tell everybody what they should do up there, and

         12  I really don't like it that the Council people, the

         13  Councilman from Harlem says, oh, yeah, I'm all for

         14  the stadium because it's going to mean jobs. There

         15  is going to be jobs. There definitely will be jobs,

         16  no matter whether it's affordable housing, which we

         17  desperately need, or whether it's a stadium. Again,

         18  you know, build the stadium in Queens. If Queens

         19  wants it, that's fine.

         20                 Like most people, my apartment is my

         21  biggest investment, and I don't want my property

         22  value to go down, and it's already been in the New

         23  York Times, that if a stadium gets built, that our

         24  property values are going to go down. It's a big

         25  investment to me. It's my daughter's future.
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          2  Eventually, if I ever get to retire, it's my

          3  retirement money. If my property values go down,

          4  Mayor Bloomberg isn't going to make up the

          5  difference to me. And I really get, I am so annoyed,

          6  and I am feeling so bullied by the Mayor, by Iron

          7  Workers, or the other unions, by the commercials

          8  that have been on, like Giuliani, look, we want to

          9  build it, we want to build the stadium, and we don't

         10  care what you think. We're going to do it anyway.

         11                 The Council needs to vote on it, and

         12  the Council, all the people in the Council need to

         13  listen to the Council people from my neighborhood,

         14  because we know what's going on. We know what the

         15  traffic situation is, we know what the needs are,

         16  and it's not for a stadium.

         17                 Thank you.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Ma'am did you

         19  want to testify?

         20                 MS. CROSS: Hello. My name is Regina

         21  Bartley Cross. I'm originally from Virginia. I've

         22  adopted this City as the most wonderful place in the

         23  world to live, and I'd hate to see it maligned by

         24  the Iron Workers.

         25                 I respect them, and I feel sorry for
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          2  them. They've been misled. They'd have the same

          3  jobs, maybe more in Queens, without destroying the

          4  quality of life in this City. I live in Chelsea, and

          5  I tell you, the traffic there is already

          6  unbelievable. You can wait 45 minutes for a bus on

          7  Eighth Avenue. Imagine what it would be at 75,000

          8  people in addition periodically in that

          9  neighborhood.

         10                 UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER: And all of them

         11  in limousines.

         12                 MS. CROSS: Well, they won't all be in

         13  limousines. Some of them will be in a billion dollar

         14  number 7 subway that they want to build, which won't

         15  help a lot.

         16                 I was a teacher here for many years,

         17  and when I taught paint was falling from the

         18  ceilings, we had 50 kids in a class, age 18, 19, one

         19  little teacher standing up front, trying to teach

         20  them. And believe me, I thank God for being raised

         21  in the south, that taught me how to go up

         22  one-by-one, touch them all, show them, make contact,

         23  and reach them. If you stood in front of the class

         24  and screamed, you were totally lost. And that's what

         25  these iron workers are doing. They're standing up
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          2  and screaming. They're not listening. They're not

          3  understanding, and I'm feeling very sorry for them,

          4  and I feel sorry for our neighborhood if this

          5  happens.

          6                 It can take a half an hour to go two

          7  blocks up to the Lincoln Tunnel now in that

          8  neighborhood. What will it be? What will happen with

          9  pollution in that neighborhood?

         10                 Dr. O said they had an 8,000-page

         11  report on environmental studies, where is that

         12  report? I haven't seen it. I haven't seen the

         13  condensation of it.

         14                 I know in the Senate only one person

         15  voted against the Patriot Act because he was the

         16  only one that read it, that was Russell Feingold.

         17  And I think if we read that environmental report

         18  we'd all be shocked.

         19                 And it's interesting, I am very, very

         20  disappointed in this Mayor. Not that I was ever

         21  excited about him, but at this point he stood up in

         22  front of the television cameras and I happened to

         23  see it, and he said, "You lead by getting out front

         24  and telling people what to do. You don't lead by

         25  getting in the back and pushing." And believe me, I
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          2  think Mousilini could have said the same thing --

          3                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: And the subways

          4  ran on time when he was head of his country.

          5                 MS. CROSS: But I've been to almost

          6  every single meeting, and I've spoken at almost

          7  every single meeting, and in many of them I brought

          8  up the example of what happened in my home town,

          9  Norfolk, Virginia. We had a red light district that

         10  was internationally famous, and the City got

         11  together and said that's enough, and they tore down

         12  everything there and they rebuilt the most beautiful

         13  park, and it's democratic. It's for every income

         14  level. And you see people walking along the

         15  waterfront, enjoying it. You have restaurants for

         16  people with little money, elegant restaurants for

         17  people with much money. Stores for every level. And

         18  the whole thing became so attractive and so

         19  amazingly appealing, that buildings came up all

         20  around without the City subsidizing it. Big hotels,

         21  big chains came up all around without the City

         22  subsidizing it.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Okay, if you

         24  could sum up, please.

         25                 MS. CROSS: Well, what I say is, Clear
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          2  Channel wants to do something like Battery Park

          3  City, they want to have affordable housing, and I

          4  say hooray for Clear Channel, and let's have a

          5  Battery Park City type of thing just on the side of

          6  Chelsea, and wouldn't that be wonderful.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Thank you.

          8                 Okay, thank you all for coming. This

          9  hearing of the Finance Committee is now adjourned.

         10                 (The following written testimony was

         11  read into the record.)

         12

         13

         14  Written Testimony Of:

         15  Joe Restuccia

         16  Hell's Kitchen/Hudson Yards Alliance

         17

         18                 Defending the City Council's Role

         19                 Thank you for inviting me to submit

         20  the following statement in support of legislation

         21  seeking Council oversight of spending PILOT income.

         22  I commend the City Council for holding today's

         23  hearing on this important piece of legislation.

         24                 West Side residents are pleased to

         25  see the City Council defend its legitimate role in
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          2  the budget process by insisting that the Mayor

          3  cannot use income from Payments in Lieu of Taxes

          4  (PILOTs) to circumvent legislative approval of his

          5  spending choices.

          6                 Payments in lieu of taxes are City

          7  revenue and should be treated like any other source

          8  of income. The Mayor should not be able to hijack

          9  this revenue stream for his pet projects.

         10                 The City Council is taking the right

         11  legal steps to ensure that these funds are treated

         12  like any other source of City income. The Council

         13  has identified a flaw in our democratic decision

         14  making process and has acted to repair it. We

         15  support the PILOT legislation before the Council and

         16  hope that it passes quickly.

         17                 About the Hell's Kitchen/Hudson Yards

         18  Alliance. The Hell's Kitchen/Hudson Yards Alliance

         19  is the community coalition opposed to the West Side

         20  Stadium. It is composed of all the neighborhood's

         21  local elected officials, Hell's Kitchen, Clinton,

         22  and Chelsea's major community organizations, and

         23  more than two thousand volunteers and activists.

         24                 (Hearing concluded at 12:00 p.m.)

         25
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          5     STATE OF NEW YORK   )

          6     COUNTY OF NEW YORK  )
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          9                 I, CINDY MILLELOT, a Certified
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